
From: Kalina, Brett
To: Hakak, Nawras
Cc: Adams, Lori M; Klew, Spencer; Knowland, Adam; Salas, Bobby Ray C; Setzler, Lynn M
Bcc: Adele Fasano; Ariana Federico Mondragon; Jim Mendelson; MaryAnne Pintar; nadia kean-ayub; Robert Brown; Tim

Ware
Subject: SDSO Liaison Response 8-4-25
Date: Monday, August 4, 2025 10:36:00 AM
Attachments: image001.png

image002.png

Board Members –
Pursuant to a board member question of the daily average population per facility:
 
AVERAGE DAILY POPULATION BY FACILITY     

 
QUALIFIED MENTAL HEALTH PROFESSIONALS ASSIGNED TO EACH FACILITY (Previously
provided)
 

  SDCJ VDF LCDRF GBDF RMDF EMRF SBDF Totals
Day (FT) 14 10 13 17 1 0 0 55
Day (PT) 8 6 5 5 0 1 1 26
Mid day (FT) 7 1 1 3 0 0 0 12
Mid day (PT) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Evening/night
(FT) 4 6 3 2 0 0 0 15
Evening/night
(PT) 0 2 1 2 0 0 0 5
Total 33 25 23 29 1 1 1 113
                 

 
 
 
Please see the link for the daily population report:  San Diego County Sheriff's Office
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Best Regards-Brett
 
Brett Kalina
he/him
Executive Officer
County of San Diego, Citizens' Law Enforcement Review Board (CLERB)
1600 Pacific Highway, Ste. 251, San Diego, CA 92101
Cell: (619) 301-9212
 

“SERVING THE COMMUNITY AND THE JUSTICE SYSTEM”
 
CONFIDENTIALITY NOTICE: This email message, including any attachments, is for the sole use of the intended
recipient(s) and may contain information protected from disclosure by applicable laws and regulations,
including, but not limited to, CA Penal Code 832.7 & 832.8 along with CLERB Rules and Regulations, Section 8. If
you are not an intended recipient, you may not review, use, copy, disclose or distribute this message or any of
the information contained in this message to anyone. If you are not the intended recipient, please contact the
sender by reply email and destroy all copies of this message and any attachments. Unintended transmission
shall not constitute waiver of any applicable legal protection afforded to this email and any attached
documents.

 

https://www.sandiegocounty.gov/clerb/index.html


From: Kalina, Brett
To: Hakak, Nawras
Cc: Ellen Gross; Adams, Lori M; Klew, Spencer; Knowland, Adam; Salas, Bobby Ray C; Setzler, Lynn M
Bcc: Adele Fasano; Ariana Federico Mondragon; Jim Mendelson; MaryAnne Pintar; nadia kean-ayub; Robert Brown;

Tim Ware
Subject: SDSO Policy Recommendation Response 8-5-25
Date: Tuesday, August 5, 2025 4:10:00 PM
Attachments: 5-6-24 PR Accept all collect calls in IA (002).pdf

Signed Response to CLERB Collect Call 8.04.25.pdf
image001.png

Board Members –
 
Please see the above original policy recommendation from May 6, 2024, and SDSO’s
response provided today.  Because it arrived following the posting of the agenda, I will
add it to the September Board Meeting Agenda. 
 
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
 
CONFIDENTIALITY NOTICE: This email message, including any attachments, is for the sole use of the
intended recipient(s) and may contain information protected from disclosure by applicable laws and
regulations, including, but not limited to, CA Penal Code 832.7 & 832.8 along with CLERB Rules and
Regulations, Section 8. If you are not an intended recipient, you may not review, use, copy, disclose or
distribute this message or any of the information contained in this message to anyone. If you are not the
intended recipient, please contact the sender by reply email and destroy all copies of this message and any
attachments. Unintended transmission shall not constitute waiver of any applicable legal protection afforded
to this email and any attached documents.
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“SERVING THE COMMUNITY AND THE JUSTICE SYSTEM” 


BOARD MEMBERS 
EILEEN DELANEY 


Chair 
MARYANNE PINTAR 


Vice Chair 
BONNIE KENK 


Secretary 
ANDREW HAYES 


DR. R. LEE BROWN 
NADIA KEAN-AYUB 


ARIANA FEDERICO MONDRAGON 
TIM WARE 


GARY I. WILSON 
VACANT 
VACANT 


 


EXECUTIVE OFFICER 
VACANT 


County of San Diego 
CITIZENS’ LAW ENFORCEMENT REVIEW BOARD 


1600 PACIFIC HIGHWAY, STE. 251, SAN DIEGO, CA 92101  
TELEPHONE: (619) 238-6776     


FAX: 1 (619) 894-8310 
www.sdcounty.ca.gov/clerb  


May 6, 2024 


Sheriff Kelly A. Martinez, County of San Diego 
Attn: Lieutenant David Perkins, Division of Inspectional Services 
9621 Ridgehaven Court 
San Diego, CA  92123 


POLICY RECOMMENDATION “ACCEPT ALL COLLECT CALLS IN INTERNAL AFFAIRS 
DEPARTMENT” 


Dear Sheriff Martinez: 


On 03-28-24, CLERB discovered the Internal Affairs (IA) department does not accept collect calls. According to 
an IA representative, incarcerated persons (IPs) in county jails have the option to contact IA by dialing *29 from 
San Diego County Jail phones. CLERB was contacted by an IP in San Diego County custody who was unaware 
of this phone number and his calls were continuously rejected. Furthermore, many IPs are sentenced at prisons 
and use collect calling systems. In an effort to ensure IA staff are able to respond to all incoming complaints, it 
is recommended IA accepts all collect calls. If the call is from an IP in San Diego Central Jail custody, there is 
no associated cost and the information regarding *29 can be relayed at first contact. If the call is from another 
facility, the IP should still have the opportunity to communicate with IA. These individuals should not be penalized 
due to their inability to pay for a telephone call. This recommendation will support the equity initiative embraced 
across the County. 


Pursuant to Section 340.9(g) of the San Diego County Administrative Code, the Citizens’ Law Enforcement 
Review Board (CLERB) shall have the authority to review and make recommendations on policies and 
procedures of the San Diego County Sheriff’s Department and San Diego County Probation Department. As 
such, CLERB makes the following recommendation: 


1. It is recommended that the Sheriff’s Department Internal Affairs (IA) department consider a toll-free
number or accept collect calls through whatever method is necessary to ensure everyone, including
incarcerated persons are able to file a complaint.


On April 23, 2024, the CLERB reviewed and approved the above listed policy recommendation. CLERB supports 
the Sheriff’s Department’s careful and prompt review of our proposed policy recommendation, and we look 
forward to your response. 


Sincerely, 


Eileen Delaney, Chairperson 


ED:am 
cc: DIS Liaison 



http://www.sdcounty.ca.gov/clerb
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
Subject: Media Update 8-5-25
Date: Tuesday, August 5, 2025 4:17:00 PM
Attachments: image001.png

Judge approves partial settlement requiring sweeping ADA reforms in San Diego County
jails

https://www.sandiegouniontribune.com/2025/08/04/judge-approves-partial-
settlement-requiring-sweeping-ada-reforms-in-san-diego-county-jails/

 
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
Subject: Media Update 8-12-25
Date: Tuesday, August 12, 2025 8:32:00 AM
Attachments: image001.png

Press Release re CLERB demand video preservation (8.6.2025).pdf

https://www.kqed.org/news/12050100/thousands-of-once-secret-police-records-are-
now-public-heres-how-you-can-use-them

 

https://enewspaper.sandiegouniontribune.com/infinity/article_popover_share.aspx?
guid=0b2e164c-fd56-4514-be98-e51a5bfc18ad&share=true

 
San Diego County to pay $4M to mother of man who died by suicide in jail
https://www.sandiegouniontribune.com/2025/08/05/san-diego-county-to-pay-4m-to-mother-of-
man-who-died-by-suicide-in-jail/

 
 
Judge: Sheriff's Office erased key jail video evidence | cbs8.com
 
 
After months of negotiations over juvenile hall injury cases, oversight board reaches deal to access
records — sometimes
https://www.sandiegouniontribune.com/2025/08/11/after-months-of-negotiations-over-juvenile-
hall-injury-cases-oversight-board-reaches-deal-to-access-records-sometimes/

 
 

Advocates urge watchdog to act to preserve jail-death video evidence, days after judge
blasts county for erasing it
https://www.sandiegouniontribune.com/2025/08/12/advocates-urge-watchdog-to-act-
to-preserve-jail-death-video-evidence-days-after-judge-blasts-county-for-erasing-it/

 
 
Best Regards-Brett
 
Brett Kalina
he/him
Executive Officer
County of San Diego, Citizens' Law Enforcement Review Board (CLERB)
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FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE 
Media Contacts Below 


Impacted Families Demand CLERB Intervene to Prevent 
the Sheriff’s Office from Erasing Critical Video Evidence 


On August 7, 2025, Saving Lives in Custody California will demand that CLERB ensure 
video related to in-custody deaths at San Diego County jails is preserved. 


SAN DIEGO, Calif., August 6, 2025 –Saving Lives in Custody California will host a press 
conference on August 7, 2025 at 4:30 p.m. on the west side of the County Administration 
Building, 1600 Pacific Coast Highway, near the “Guardian of Water” statute. Families 
impacted by the death of their loved ones in the custody of the San Diego County Sheriff’s 
Office will demand the Citizens Law Enforcement Review Board (CLERB) take immediate 
action to preserve relevant audio and video evidence at County jails when a person dies in 
Sheriff’s custody. 


Litigation related to the death of Hayden Schuck demonstrates the Sheriff’s Office is 
routinely erasing hours of video evidence even when families and their attorneys ask the 
Sheriff’s Office to preserve such evidence. Please join Saving Lives in Custody on August 7, 
2025 at 4:30 p.m. as they demand that CLERB take action to stop the Sheriff’s Office from 
destroying critical video evidence that may shed light on the circumstances of deaths in 
Sheriff’s custody. 


A copy of the demand to CLERB is attached. 


About Saving Lives in Custody California 
Paloma Serna and Yusef Miller founded Saving Lives in Custody California after the horrific 
death of Elisa Serna, Paloma’s daughter, while in the custody of the San Diego County 
Sheriff’s Department. Saving Lives in Custody is dedicated to advocating for and assisting 
families whose loved ones have died in police custody.     


### 


For more information, please contact: 


Yusef Miller, co-founder, Saving Lives in Custody California: 
yusef@savinglivesincustodyca.org  


Paloma Serna, co-founder, Saving Lives in Custody California: 
paloma@savinglivesincustodyca.org  


  



mailto:yusef@savinglivesincustodyca.org

mailto:paloma@savinglivesincustodyca.org
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Saving Lives In Custody California 
501 W Broadway Suite 1480  
San Diego, CA 92101 
619-259-6797 
paloma@savinglivesincustodyca.org 


 
 
 


August 6, 2025 
 
Via Email and Personal Service 
 
Citizens Law Enforcement Review Board 
1600 Pacific Hwy, Room 251 
San Diego, CA 92101 
clerb@sdcounty.ca.gov  
 


Re:  San Diego County Sheriff’s Office Failure to Preserve Critical 
Audio and Video Evidence. 


 
To the Honorable Board Members of CLERB, 
 


On behalf of families impacted by the deaths of their loved ones in San 
Diego County Sheriff’s custody, we urge CLERB to take action to preserve critical 
video and audio evidence while investigating allegations of misconduct by 
Sheriff’s employees and contractors. 


 
The San Diego Union-Tribune recently discussed the destruction of video 


evidence in the death of William Hayden Shuck at the Central Jail.1 In Mr. 
Shuck’s case, the Sheriff’s Office erased more than 57 hours of video footage. The 
erased video came from a camera that was positioned immediately above Mr. 
Shuck’s cell. Such video from the hallway leading to Mr. Shuck’s holding cell 
would have shown whether deputies were conducting timely and adequate safety 
checks and whether medical staff were providing care to Mr. Shuck. The Union 
Tribune referenced deposition testimony by a Sheriff’s Office official in the Shuck 
case that demonstrates shocking indifference to preserving important video 
evidence. This official testified, “‘there probably isn’t a single deputy in the 
department’ that knows about the video-retention policy. Instead, footage is 


 
1 Kelly Davis, ‘Shocking in the height of negligence’: Judge blasts San 
Diego County for deleting video footage from 2022 jail death, SAN 


DIEGO UNION TRIBUNE, July 31, 2025, available at: 
https://www.sandiegouniontribune.com/2025/07/30/shocking-in-the-
height-of-negligence-judge-blasts-san-diego-county-for-deleting-video-
footage-from-2022-jail-death/  







-2 
 


automatically overwritten when facility DVRs ‘start reaching the data retention 
threshold.’”   


 
Unfortunately, the Sheriff’s Office has not simply failed to preserve video in 


the Shuck matter. The Sheriff’s Office failed to preserve critical video evidence in 
the following cases: 


 
1. The death of Omar Moreno Arroyo. In the Moreno case, the Sheriff’s 


Office failed to preserve video of the hallways near Mr. Moreno’s cell 
where he died. One critical issue in the Moreno litigation is whether 
Sheriff’s deputies conducted adequate and timely cell checks to observe 
and monitor the safety and well-being of Mr. Moreno. The hallway video 
would have demonstrated whether such safety checks occurred. A federal 
judge determined the Sheriff’s Office had no obligation to preserve the 
hallway video because Mr. Moreno’s surviving wife, Tammy Wilson, did 
not notify the Sheriff’s Office that inadequate safety checks were an issue 
in her case. But Ms. Wilson only discovered that safety checks were 
deficient in Mr. Moreno’s case months after she filed a lawsuit. She only 
became aware of the deficient safety checks due to evidence her lawyers 
obtained as part of the litigation process. By then it was too late.    
 


2. Joey Frias. Deputies used unreasonable force and restraints against Mr. 
Frias while he was in a postictal state after suffering a seizure. Mr. Frias 
submitted a claim form notifying the Sheriff’s Office of the deputies’ use 
of force and specifying the date, time, and location where the incident 
occurred. Despite this, the Sheriff’s Office failed to preserve any 
surveillance footage depicting the use of force. It is undisputed that there 
was video of the initial use of force that occurred in a holding cell next to 
the medical unit. Each deputy-defendant testified there was a camera in 
the hallway pointing directly to the holding cell where the use of force 
occurred; however, the Sheriff’s Office made no effort to preserve that 
footage, and it claimed it was not provided sufficient notice to preserve 
the video. 


 
3. Frankie Greer. In Mr. Greer’s case, the Sheriff’s Office failed to 


preserve direct video of Mr. Greer’s cell. An issue in Mr. Greer’s case 
was the delay in rendering medical aid to Mr. Greer. Mr. Greer had 
suffered a seizure and fallen off the top bunk of his bed, smashing his 
head on the concrete floor. Mr. Greer’s cellmates repeatedly called for 
emergency aid using the intercom. But there was no recording of the 
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intercom calls. Mr. Greer suffered a traumatic brain injury and was 
incapacitated for months after this incident. He could take no steps to 
ensure the Sheriff’s Office preserved critical evidence. Mr. Greer’s 
attorneys only obtained relevant video due to the efforts of CLERB. The 
CLERB investigator received the video from the Sheriff’s Office and 
saved the file, eventually providing Mr. Greer with access to this critical 
evidence.   
 


The foregoing cases illustrate the terrible “Catch-22” that many families and 
aggrieved individuals face when attempting to hold the Sheriff’s Office 
accountable. Impacted family members like Tammy Wilson are expected to take 
steps to identify and preserve critical evidence when they have no idea what 
occurred in the jail leading to a loved one’s death. Many family members are 
denied information about how their loved one died, or the circumstances that led to 
the person’s death. The Sheriff’s Office routinely rejects and denies Public 
Records requests for this type of information. Yet, grieving families are expected 
to put the Sheriff’s Office on notice of what evidence is relevant to their loved 
ones’ death – information that only the Sheriff’s Office has and evidence only the 
Sheriff can preserve. Families often feel powerless in the face of such institutional 
barriers. 


 
We urge CLERB to take action to remedy this injustice. CLERB 


investigators should take the following steps to ensure that critical audio and video 
evidence is preserved: 


 
1. For in-custody deaths: CLERB investigators should determine the areas 


in which the deceased inmate was housed at the jail, or where the 
incident occurred, and identify all video cameras in that area. This 
includes identifying all cameras in hallways leading to the incident area. 
After identifying the relevant areas, CLERB should ask the Sheriff’s 
Office to preserve all video for a 72-hour period and provide that video to 
CLERB. 
 


2. CLERB’s investigative reports of in-custody deaths, or other deputy 
misconduct that occurs in a jail, should specify any and all locations or 
areas where relevant events occurred. This will allow families to 
immediately notify the Sheriff’s Office to preserve critical evidence near 
that area. 


 
3. For cases occurring in County jails, CLERB should request all evidence 
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regarding intercom calls made from cells. If the Sheriff’s Office is not 
recording intercom calls from inmate cells, then CLERB should request 
all documents and notes indicating when deputies are receiving intercom 
calls requesting assistance.  


 
4. For cases involving body-worn camera (BWC) video, CLERB 


investigators should identify all deputies involved, other than the primary 
deputies. CLERB should then request and receive BWC video from these 
other deputies. BWC video from different angles captured by officers 
who are percipient witnesses may be extremely relevant to understanding 
what occurred.  


 
CLERB has repeatedly affirmed its commitment to thorough and 


independent investigations of in-custody deaths. We believe these 
recommendations and requests will facilitate transparency and increase public trust 
in public officials. 


 
    Sincerely, 
 
    s/ Yusef Miller 
 


s/ Paloma Serna 
_________________________________________ 


    YUSEF MILLER 
    PALOMA SERNA 


Saving Lives In Custody California 
 
 
About Saving Lives in Custody California 
Paloma Serna and Yusef Miller founded Saving Lives in Custody California after the horrific 
death of Elisa Serna, Paloma’s daughter, while in the custody of the San Diego County Sheriff’s 
Department. Saving Lives in Custody is dedicated to advocating for and assisting families whose 
loved ones have died in police custody.  
For more information, please visit www.savinglivesincustodyca.org 
 
 


 
 







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
To: Kalina, Brett
Subject: Supervisor Monica Montgomery Steppe wants to end use of pepper spray in juveni
Date: Thursday, August 21, 2025 7:35:45 AM

Supervisor Monica Montgomery Steppe wants to end use of pepper spray in juvenile halls

https://www.sandiegouniontribune.com/2025/08/20/supervisor-monica-montgomery-steppe-
wants-to-end-use-of-pepper-spray-in-juvenile-halls/

Get Outlook for iOS

mailto:Brett.Kalina@sdcounty.ca.gov
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
Subject: Board Letter: Improving Youth Safety In Juvenile Detention Facilities 8-21-25
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TO: Board of Supervisors 


 


SUBJECT 
..Title 


IMPROVING YOUTH SAFETY IN JUVENILE DETENTION FACILITIES (DISTRICTS: 


ALL) 


 
..Body 


OVERVIEW 


On April 25, 2017 (4), the Board of Supervisors (Board) authorized the Director, Department of 


Purchasing and Contracting, to negotiate with the Council of Juvenile Justice Administrators, Inc. 


(CJJA) for the procurement of a contract for Youth in Custody Practice Model (YICPM) Training 


and Technical Assistance services to be provided to the County of San Diego’s Probation 


Department (Probation) for a period of 18 months. Under this authority, on August 9, 2017, the 


County of San Diego (County) awarded Contract 556648 to CJJA (then known as Council of 


Juvenile Correctional Administrators, Inc.), to expire on February 28, 2019. The County has since 


continued renewing its contract, currently under Contract Number 568295, to receive technical 


assistance and training from CJJA on policies, procedures, and operating practices specific to the 


Youth Transition Campus (YTC), the East Mesa Juvenile Detention Facility (EMJDF), A.B. and 


Jessie Polinsky Children’s Center, and the SB 823 Youth Development Academy Program. 


Technical assistance includes site visits, virtual meetings with identified staff, and review of all 


related records, including incident reports and videos related to incidents of violence, use of 


restraints/force, use of confinement, and facility design. 


 


The YICPM is designed to assist state and county juvenile correctional agencies and facility 


providers in implementing a comprehensive and effective service delivery approach. Utilizing the 


YICPM as a roadmap, CJJA, the Center for Juvenile Justice Reform at Georgetown University’s 


McCourt School of Public Policy, and a team of consultants provided participating agencies with 


technical assistance and training to align core, research-based principles with everyday practice, 


and achieve more positive outcomes for youth, families, staff, and communities by reducing the 


number of youth entering the juvenile justice system. 


 


On May 13, 2025, California Attorney General Rob Bonta announced the opening of a civil rights 


investigation to determine whether the County has engaged in a pattern or practice of unlawful 


treatment of youth at EMJDF and YTC. The announcement did not outline any specific incidents 
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or allegations that may have prompted the investigation; however, recent reporting by several 


oversight organizations highlight concerns with excessive use of force in youth detention facilities, 


including the use of Oleoresin Capsicum (OC) spray, and the failure of Probation officers to utilize 


de-escalation techniques. Moreover, while Probation has contracted with CJJA since 2017, the 


Board is rarely apprised of complaints filed against Probation or of CJJA’s findings due to the 


contract directing CJJA to provide their Training and Technical Assistance solely to Probation.  


 


This is a request to establish an Ad Hoc Subcommittee on Juvenile Justice, renew the County’s 


contract with CJJA with a provision requiring CJJA to provide the Subcommittee with its reports, 


and direct the Chief Probation Officer to report back to the Board within 60 days with a plan for 


(1) the phased elimination of the use of OC spray, and (2) the promotion of de-escalation 


techniques as opposed to excessive use of force and room confinement.  The Chief Probation 


Officer’s plan must include mandatory Mandt training for all Probation officers working in the 


County’s youth detention facilities and proposed policy changes. 


 


RECOMMENDATION(S) 


VICE-CHAIR MONICA MONTGOMERY STEPPE 


1. Establish an ad hoc subcommittee of this Board of Supervisors, entitled the Ad Hoc 


Subcommittee on Juvenile Justice (Subcommittee), and appoint Supervisor Monica 


Montgomery Steppe and Supervisor Paloma Aguirre, for the purpose of analyzing, 


planning and proactively addressing concerns, recommendations, and opportunities for 


improvement in youth detention facilities. 


a. To advance the purposes described above, the activities of the Subcommittee will 


include, but will not be limited to, the following: (i) working with Council of 


Juvenile Justice Administrators, Inc. (CJJA), Probation,  County staff, and, if 


relevant, other stakeholders, to track concerns and recommendations regarding the 


County of San Diego’s youth detention facilities; (ii) identifying and analyzing 


opportunities to improve Probation operations  through changes in policy, training 


and practices; and (iii) working with the Chief Probation Officer, Chief 


Administrative Officer and others on developing and implementing steps for any 


recommendations presented to and approved by the Board. 


b. The Subcommittee will report back by memo to the Board quarterly on the activities 


of the Subcommittee, and in closed session as needed and authorized by statute. 


c. The Subcommittee will bring forth recommendations for approval by the Board as 


needed. 


d. Once the purposes outlined above have been achieved, the Subcommittee will 


conclude its work.  


2. In accordance, with Board Policy A-87, Competitive Procurement, direct, approve, and 


authorize the Director, Department of Purchasing and Contracting, to enter into 


negotiations with CJJA and, subject to successful negotiations and a determination of a fair 


and reasonable price, amend Contract Number 568295 with CJJA to extend its contract 


terms through December 31, 2026, subject to the availability of funds, and to add a 


provision that requires CJJA to provide the Board with a copy of CJJA’s reports, including 


its Training and Technical Assistance services.  
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3. Direct the Chief Probation Officer, in collaboration with CJJA, to report back to the Board 


within 60 days with a plan for the phased elimination of the use of chemical agents, 


including OC spray, in all San Diego County youth detention facilities within two years. 


The Chief Probation Officer and CJJA are to work with the County of San Diego’s Health 


and Human Services Agency, County Counsel, the Public Defender, the Alternate Public 


Defender, the San Diego County Office of Education, and employee associations, 


consistent with the meet and confer labor obligations, and community advocates in creating 


the plan, as deemed appropriate. The plan must also implement pilot programs at all of the 


youth detention facilities currently using chemical agents, including OC spray, which 


restricts access to chemical agents while it is being phased out. 


4. Direct the Chief Probation Officer, in collaboration with CJJA, to report back to the Board 


within 60 days with a plan that considers best practices, both short- and long-term, to 


reduce and de-emphasize the use of force and room confinement. The plan must include, 


but not be limited to, mandatory Mandt training for all Probation officers working in youth 


detention facilities, a timeline of implementation of alternate forms of supervision and 


behavior management, and related amendments to Probation’s policies and procedures. 


The Chief Probation Officer and CJJA are to work with the County of San Diego’s Health 


and Human Services Agency, County Counsel, the Public Defender, the Alternate Public 


Defender, the San Diego County Office of Education, and employee associations, 


consistent with meet and confer obligations, and community advocates in creating the plan, 


as deemed appropriate. 


 


EQUITY IMPACT STATEMENT 


Encouraging effective government oversight of juvenile detention and updating use of force 


policies demonstrate a commitment to promoting equity, justice, and inclusivity. 


 


SUSTAINABILITY IMPACT STATEMENT 


Encouraging effective government oversight of juvenile detention and updating use of force 


policies will further the County of San Diego’s commitment to promoting justice for all San 


Diegans. 


 


FISCAL IMPACT 


Funds for the actions requested are included in the Fiscal Year 2025-26 Operational Plan based on 


existing staff time in the identified departments based on various funding sources. There will be 


no change in net General Fund cost and no additional staff years resulting from these 


recommendations. There may be fiscal impacts associated with future related recommendations 


which staff would return to the Board of Supervisors for consideration and approval. 


 


BUSINESS IMPACT STATEMENT 


N/A 


 
..Details 


ADVISORY BOARD STATEMENT 


N/A 
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BACKGROUND 


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


County of San Diego (County) awarded Contract Number 556648 to CJJA (then known as Council 


of Juvenile Correctional Administrators, Inc.), to expire on February 28, 2019. The County has 


since continued renewing its contract, currently under Contract Number 568295, to receive 


technical assistance and training from CJJA on policies, procedures, and operating practices 


specific to the Youth Transition Campus (YTC), the East Mesa Juvenile Detention Facility 


(EMJDF), the A.B. and Jessie Polinsky Children’s Center, and the SB 823 Youth Development 


Academy Program. Technical assistance includes site visits, virtual meetings with identified staff, 


and review of all related records, including incident reports and videos related to incidents of 


violence, use of restraints/force, use of confinement, and facility design. 


 


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


treatment of youth at EMJDF and YTC.1 The announcement did not outline any specific incidents 


or allegations that may have prompted the investigation; however, recent reporting by several 


oversight organizations highlight concerns with the overuse of force in youth detention facilities, 


including the use of Oleoresin Capsicum (OC) spray, and the failure of Probation officers to utilize 


de-escalation techniques. Moreover, while Probation has contracted with CJJA since 2017, the 


Board is rarely apprised of  CJJA’s findings and Probation’s responses due to the contract directing 


CJJA to provide their Training and Technical Assistance solely to Probation. 


 


CJJA Contract 
Probation has been working with CJJA since 2017 to develop and implement YICPM and national 


best practices in the County’s juvenile detention facilities. CJJA provides unique knowledge not 


available from other providers, as well as vital continuity supporting the timely improvement in 


use of force and de-escalation practices. National experts have played a critical role in helping 


Probation make a shift from a correctional, compliance-based model of juvenile detention to a 


positive youth development approach. These technical assistance services are in the County’s best 


interest. 


                                                           
1 This investigation will also examine the educational services provided to incarcerated youth by the San Diego County 


Office of Education. Attorney General Bonta Launches Civil Rights Investigation into Conditions at San Diego 


Juvenile Halls, OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL (May 13, 2025), https://oag.ca.gov/news/press-releases/attorney-


general-bonta-launches-civil-rights-investigation-conditions-san-diego. 
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Pursuant to the County’s current contract with CJJA, Contract Number 568295, CJJA’s scope of 


work as it relates to Probation is to provide YICPM Training and Technical Assistance solely to 


Probation staff. Due to this contract language, CJJA has been unable to report its findings and 


recommendations directly to the Board, which has historically prevented the Board from 


understanding the full scope of the issues underlying certain Probation policies and practices. 


Moreover, several concerns remain regarding Probation’s use of force policies and practices and 


de-escalation training. First, not all Probation officers in juvenile detention facilities have received 


Mandt de-escalation training. Second, Probation continues to utilize chemical agents—primarily 


OC spray—in its juvenile facilities, despite oversight organizations finding that officers oftentimes 


use OC spray as a first means of addressing conflict with youth, rather than de-escalation 


techniques. Third, Probation’s policy broadly allows use of force without attempting de-escalation 


efforts in the first instance, which is likely to harm youth unnecessarily. 


 


This board letter includes a request to create an Ad Hoc Subcommittee (Subcommittee) on Juvenile 


Justice to recommend opportunities for improvement to Probation, and to renew the CJJA contract, 


which expires December 31, 2025, with provisions to include the Subcommittee as a recipient of 


CJJA’s reports, including its Training and Technical Assistance services. This will help the County 


address past deficiencies and make CJJA an effective advisory council.  


 


Mandt Training 


The Mandt System, as recommended by CJJA, is a de-escalation training that “teaches practical 


techniques and concepts to prevent further escalation, all while maintaining dignity and respect.”2 


Mandt training educates departments on how to establish relationships, control emotions, de-


escalate incidents, and manage behavior. Importantly, Mandt training is also trauma-informed, as 


many detained youths have extensive histories of trauma. 


 


While Mandt training is now a part of the CORE training received by all new, incoming Probation 


officers, stronger efforts must be made to ensure existing officers are trained. Due to concerns 


regarding the heavy reliance on force and OC spray by Probation officers, as described further 


below, this board letter includes a request to amend Probation’s policy to prioritize de-escalation 


training and techniques, and to require that Mandt training be provided to all Probation officers. 


 


Use of OC Spray 


The use of OC spray, more commonly known as “pepper spray,” has been declining across the 


country as a means of discipline for youth detainees. In fact, a survey by CJJA found that, as of 


March 2025, two-thirds of states have banned the use of OC spray on youth detainees.3 Moreover, 


California is 1 of only 6 states that allow probation officers to carry OC cans on their persons at 


all times.4 In the past several years, methods of disciplining detained youth have pivoted from 


physical discipline and forced isolation toward a more comprehensive and holistic approach. At 


                                                           
2 De-Escalation Training, MANDT SYSTEM, https://www.mandtsystem.com/programs-pricing/deescalation-training/ 


(last visited July 8, 2025). 
3 Chemical Agents in Juvenile Facilities, COUNCIL OF JUVENILE JUSTICE ADMINISTRATORS (Mar. 2025), 


https://cjja.net/wp-content/uploads/2025/04/Chemical-Agents-in-Juvenile-Justice-Facilities-March-2025.pdf.  
4 Report by Legislative Counsel David Billingsley presented to the Assembly Committee on Public Safety for 


hearing held April 17, 2018, page 4. 
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the heart of this departure from a culture of punishment and control to one of support and 


rehabilitation is the growing awareness concerning the effects and treatment of trauma and what 


is effective in addressing and healing it. The fact that so many of the young people in our facilities 


have extensive trauma histories must be taken into account when considering how best to evaluate 


their needs and determine the kinds of practices staff employ when working with them. Trauma-


informed techniques—including verbal de-escalation, cognitive behavioral therapy, 


multidisciplinary team involvement, and other alternatives—enable youth to respond more 


positively and develop healthy coping strategies that can have lasting effects on their behavior and, 


ultimately, their outcomes. 


 


Many counties, including Santa Clara, San Francisco, Solano, Sonoma, Santa Cruz, Marin, and 


Sacramento have banned the use of OC spray in all their juvenile facilities. It is time for the use of 


this spray in our juvenile facilities to be entirely eliminated, in a deliberate and progressive manner, 


and replaced with alternate forms of behavior management, increased staff training, evidence-


based programming, and independent oversight. 


 


Currently, Probation’s policies broadly permit the use of OC spray “when such force reasonably 


appears justified and necessary.”5 It forbids its use on youth who are pregnant6 but makes no 


mention of youth taking psychotropic medications, suffering from asthma or other respiratory 


conditions, or with a history of seizures, despite research indicating youth suffering from any of 


these conditions have a higher chance of complications related to being dosed with OC spray. 


Perhaps most significantly, rather than being the last resort in a continuum of actions, the use of 


OC spray (and the use of force, as discussed further below) is often looked to as the default or 


intermediary force option. Indeed, a 2024 inspection report by the San Diego County Juvenile 


Justice Commission stated that at EMJDF, OC spray was used primarily to stop fights but that the 


reports required to be submitted by Probation officers after using OC spray failed to state whether 


officers had made any efforts to prevent or de-escalate the fight in the first place.7 


 


While the abusive and unjustified uses of OC spray raise the greatest alarm, even when used in a 


manner authorized by Probation policy, OC spray is now viewed by many juvenile justice experts 


as counter-productive, needlessly punitive, and potentially both medically and psychologically 


harmful. Additionally, several investigative reports have opined that the use of OC spray degrades 


the relationship between youth and staff, and that “youth distrust of facility staff and conflict with 


them can undermine program efforts to alter delinquent career paths and elevate discipline, control, 


and safety issues.”8 


 


OC spray is measured in “Scoville” units. One Scoville is equivalent to the heat of a single jalapeño 


pepper. The heat of law enforcement-issued OC spray is over a thousand times more powerful than 


                                                           
5 Chemical Agents Training Policy § 305.2, Juvenile Detention Manual, SAN DIEGO CNTY. PROB. DEP’T (Aug. 19, 


2019). 
6 Id. § 305.3. 
7East Mesa Juvenile Detention Facility 2024, San Diego County Juvenile Justice Commission at 11 (2024), 


https://www.sdcourt.ca.gov/sites/default/files/SDCOURT/JUVENILE3/JUVENILEJUSTICECOMMISSION/JJCR


EPORTS/2024_inspection_report_-_east_mesa_juvenile_detention_facility_emjdf.pdf. 
8 Andrea J. Sedlak & Karla S. McPherson, Conditions of Confinement: Findings from the Survey of Youth in 


Residential Placement 8, U.S. DEP’T OF JUSTICE OFFICE OF JUVENILE JUSTICE AND DELINQUENCY PREVENTION (May 


2010), https://www.ojp.gov/pdffiles1/ojjdp/227729.pdf. 
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the heat from a jalapeño pepper, and significantly more powerful than commercially available 


mace sprays, making the term “pepper spray” a quaint misnomer. An assault by OC spray will 


cause a person’s eyes to immediately close, due to a “bubbling or boiling sensation,” which is 


followed by temporary blindness and intense eye pain. The short- and long-term effects on adults 


include intense pain, wheezing, acute hypertension, deterioration of nerve tissue and permanent 


corneal damage, inability to breathe, blistering of the skin, and a heightened risk of asphyxiation 


when used on individuals with respiratory conditions such as asthma.9 Apnea and respiratory arrest 


may also occur, as those with asthma have a higher chance of complications related to being dosed 


with OC spray. Research suggests that young adults and children are more likely to be injured by 


OC spray than adults, and that “‘children are more vulnerable to severe injuries from chemical 


toxicity’ related to the use of chemical irritants like OC spray.”10 The reaction to OC spray may 


be intensified if the person sprayed has medical or mental health diagnoses or takes certain 


medications.11 Additionally, youth with and without disabilities have an increased likelihood of 


negative effects with repeated exposure.12 It can reasonably be inferred that both the short- and 


long-term effects on youth may be even more severe, long-lasting, and traumatizing, and it is 


difficult to predict whether a youth may have a severe or deadly reaction to OC spray.13 There is 


research that suggests that the use of OC spray can actually increase violence, as well as create 


liability for local governments, due to its improper use.14 


 


Jurisdictions in California that no longer allow the use of OC spray in their juvenile facilities have 


turned to alternate methods that have—at their core—an overriding concern for both the youth and 


staff working and living there. All juvenile facilities in the County should follow suit. Options to 


consider should include comprehensive staff training and education regarding adolescent 


development, cognitive behavioral techniques, non-threatening verbal and non-verbal 


communication, and evidence-based programming such as a rewards system, and mandatory 


annual re-education. Review of use of force and reporting policies should expose the weak areas 


of enforcement that allowed the abuse to go on undetected for so long. For youth to be free from 


the threat of this dehumanizing and violent discipline method, it is necessary for staff to be 


thoroughly trained in appropriate alternative options, and for Probation to support necessary 


culture change. 


 


This board letter includes a request for the Chief Probation Officer, in collaboration with CJJA, to 


report back within 60 days on a plan for the phased elimination of the use of OC spray in all San 


Diego County youth detention facilities within two years. The Chief Probation Officer and CJJA 


are to work with the County of San Diego’s Health and Human Services Agency, County Counsel, 


the Public Defender, the Alternate Public Defender, the San Diego County Office of Education, 


and community advocates in creating the plan, as deemed appropriate. The plan must also 


                                                           
9 Ian M. Kysel, Toxic Treatment: The Abuse of Tear Gas Weapons in California Juvenile Detention, ACLU, at 15 


(May 22, 2019). 
10 Id. at 14 (quoting Physicians for Human Rights & The International Network of Civil Liberties Organizations, 


Lethal in Disguise: The Health Consequences of Crowd-Control Weapons 44 (March 2016)). 
11 Id. at 18. 
12 Report on Inspection of the San Diego Juvenile Detention Facilities, DISABILITY RIGHTS CALIFORNIA (Sept. 24, 


2015). 
13 Leah Pinney, Pepper Spray in the Texas Youth Commission: Research Review and Policy Recommendations, Tex. 


Crim. Justice Coalition (Nov. 2007), at 5. 
14 Id. at 6. 
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implement pilot programs at all youth detention facilities currently using OC spray, which restricts 


access to OC spray while it is being phased out. 


 


Use of Force  


Probation’s policies also give officers broad discretion to use physical force against youth 


detainees, unlike other jurisdictions. Specifically, Probation’s policy provides that “[o]fficers may 


use force as reasonably necessary in the performance of duties, but excessive force shall not be 


used.”15 This policy significantly differs from other jurisdictions, which emphasize that officers 


should first utilize de-escalation techniques when reasonable to do so and discourage the use of 


force. For example, the San Francisco County Probation Department’s policy states its 


department’s “preferred method of resolving conflict and maintaining safety and security in the 


facility is through the application of de-escalation and crisis intervention techniques. . . . Sworn 


staff shall use the least amount of force necessary to gain compliance/control.”16 


 


While there have been numerous allegations of abusive and unjustified uses of force, there is also 


concern that Probation officers utilize force in the first instance, rather than employing de-


escalation techniques when reasonable. Indeed, as described above, such use of force may degrade 


the relationship between youth and staff, resulting in youth distrust of facility staff that is 


counterproductive to program rehabilitation efforts. 


 


This board letter includes a request to create a plan that considers best practices for options 


regarding use of force, both short- and long-term, with a timeline of implementation of alternate 


forms of supervision and behavior management. Moreover, this action requests the Chief 


Probation Officer, in collaboration with CJJA, to amend Probation policies to de-emphasize use 


of force and instead promote de-escalation techniques. The Chief Probation Officer and CJJA are 


to work with the County of San Diego’s Health and Human Services Agency, County Counsel, 


the Public Defender, the Alternate Public Defender, the San Diego County Office of Education, 


and community advocates in creating the plan, as deemed appropriate. 


 


Use of Room Confinement 
Probation policy defines “room confinement” as “the placement of a youth in a locked sleeping 


room or cell with minimal or no contact with persons other than correctional facility staff and 


attorneys.”17 Youth are also often placed under room confinement during staff breaks and shift 


changes.18 The use of room confinement by Probation officers has been a subject of investigation 


in recent years, and despite Probation’s agreement to improve their practices, it does not appear 


there is much progress in this area. 


 


                                                           
15 Use of Force Policy § 514.3. 
16 Juvenile Hall Policy and Procedures Manual § 10.17.III.C, SAN FRANCISCO JUVENILE PROB. DEP’T (Jan. 1, 2019), 


https://www.sf.gov/sites/default/files/2023-01/10.16_use_of_force.pdf. 
17 Behavior Control Policy § 7.7.3.2, Institutional Services Policies, SAN DIEGO CNTY. PROB. DEP’T (June 25, 2018); 


Cal. WIC § 208.3(a)(3); 15 CCR § 1302. 
18 While Probation Policy § 7.7.3.2 states “[r]oom confinement does not include confinement of a youth . . . for brief 


periods necessary for required institutional operations (such as shift change),” this Board Letter uses the term “room 


confinement” to include confinement used for institutional operations. 







SUBJECT: IMPROVING YOUTH SAFETY IN JUVENILE DETENTION FACILITIES 


(DISTRICTS: ALL) 
 


Legistar v1.0  9 
 


Numerous studies have shown the use of room confinement is harmful to incarcerated youths, does 


not reduce violence, and likely increases recidivism. Indeed, subjecting developing youths to 


isolation can cause permanent psychological damage, and multiple studies strongly suggest the 


use of isolation correlates with suicide.19 These risks are increased for youths with disabilities or 


histories of trauma and abuse.20  


 


In January 2022, the California Board of State and Community Corrections found Probation was 


out of compliance with California regulations21, which provides that “[r]oom confinement shall 


not be used before other less restrictive options have been attempted and exhausted, unless 


attempting those options poses a threat to the safety and security of any minor, ward, or staff.”22 


While Probation submitted its required corrective action plan in March 2022, there are still 


concerns regarding Probation’s use of room confinement and accurate documentation thereof. 


 


Thus, this board letter includes a request to create a plan that considers best practices for options 


for room confinement, both short- and long-term, with a timeline of implementation of alternate 


forms of supervision and behavior management. Moreover, this action requests the Chief 


Probation Officer, in collaboration with CJJA, to amend Probation policies to de-emphasize use 


of room confinement and instead promote de-escalation techniques. The Chief Probation Officer 


and CJJA are to work with the County of San Diego’s Health and Human Services Agency, County 


Counsel, the Public Defender, the Alternate Public Defender, the San Diego County Office of 


Education, and community advocates in creating the plan, as deemed appropriate. 


 


LINKAGE TO THE COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO STRATEGIC PLAN 


Today’s proposed action aligns with the Justice and Equity Strategic Initiatives in the County of 


San Diego’s 2025–2030 Strategic Plan by using evidence-based forms of supervision and 


management of youth that promotes the well-being and rehabilitation of this vulnerable population.  


 


Respectfully submitted, 


 


 
 


MONICA MONTGOMERY STEPPE 


Supervisor, Fourth District 


 


ATTACHMENT(S) 


N/A 


                                                           
19 Toolkit: Reducing the Use of Isolation, COUNCIL OF JUVENILE CORR. ADM’RS 7 (March 2015), 


https://dcfs.nv.gov/uploadedFiles/dcfsnvgov/content/Programs/JJS/CJCA%20Toolkit%20Reducing%20the%20use


%20of%20Isolation.pdf. 
20 Id. 
21 San Diego Officers Violated State Regs, Locked Youth in Rooms for Hours Without Explanation, Inspectors Find, 


INEWSSOURCE (Apr. 20, 2022), https://inewsource.org/2022/04/20/san-diego-officers-confine-youth/ 
22 Cal. Welf. & Inst. Code § 208.3(b)(1). 
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Attachments: image001.png

Facing heightened scrutiny, sheriff proposes third-party review of jail healthcare. But its
model has a problem.

https://www.sandiegouniontribune.com/2025/08/24/facing-heightened-scrutiny-
sheriff-proposes-third-party-review-of-jail-healthcare-but-its-model-has-a-problem/

 
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
Subject: Press Release - Fallbrook Village News 8/25/25
Date: Monday, August 25, 2025 9:41:00 AM
Attachments: Press Release Fallbrook Village News.pdf
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Please see attached news article (Thanks, Jim) from SD County Communications Office
titled:
Probation’s new healthcare unit will enhance medical services for youth.
 
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
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Probation's new healthcare unit will enhance medical services for youth 
Yvette Ur'rea Moe 


County of San Diego 
Communications Office 


County Probation has created a 
new integrated Healthcare Services 
unit with the goal of enhancing the 
care and support given to youth in 
deteQtion facilities and both youth 
and adult clients under Probation. 
supervision. To that end, a new 
medical director and a healthcare 
operations manager have joined 
the Probation team. 


"The establishment of this unit 
is important because it will help 
address disparities in healthcare 
and improve health outcomes for 
our clients.after their release," said 
Tamika Nelson,· Chief Probation 
Officer. "The money saved will be 
directed toward enhancing other 
programs and services Probation 
provides for our clients to help 
them successfully transition back 
into the community." 


Probat ion hired Dr. Lou 
Gilleran, Probation's medical 
director, to oversee all healthcare 
services including physicai and 
behavioral health in December. 
He is a retired U.S. Navy Medical 
Officer with 27 years of military 
service and has since worked in 
several key roles in the county 
including the medical director for 
the Emergency Homeless Shelter 


at the San Diego Convention 
Center during COVID, TB Clinic 
and as chief medical officer for the 
San Diego Sheriff's Office. 


To help him with this major and 
critical task is Michael Kelley, 
MSN in. the hew position as 
Healthcare Operations Manager, 
who has extensive experience in 
quality assurance. She handles 
policies and procedures, talking 
with community stakeholders, 
accreditation boards and requests 
for information regarding medical 
services. 


They are leading the roilout of 
Justice-Involved CalAIM, a state 
initiative that will transform Medi­
Cal in youth detention centers 
which is set to begin later this year, 
Gilleran said. 


The department is piloting new 
pre-release services. The way it 
will work is that Probation will 
receive reimbursement for youth 
care for 90 days before they are 
released. 


Currently, youth who have 
medicid insurance and are booked 
into a correctional facility are 
automatically suspended from 
any Medi-Cal reimbursement for 
medical or behavioral care as per 
federal law. Now, those services 
will be funded. 


Kelley said they have applied for 
Probation to have a special clinic 


designation that will allow them to 
bill the state for medical services, 
case management, laboratory tests, 
durable medical equipment, and 
medications. They also established 
a contract with a single contract 
provider in the detention facilities 
which offers both physical and 
behavioral health services which 
will improve communication and 
services. 


This then gives the Integrated 
Healthcare Services Unit better 
oversight, enabling seamless 
services, Gilleran said. When a 
young person is booked, they will 
have a whole per&on assessment 
which will be included in their 
re-entry plan, he said. 


As part of CalAIM, Probation 
will acquire a new comprehensive 
e l e c t r o n i c  h e a lth r e c o r d ,  
allowing for improved tracking, 
documentation, data analysis and 
billing, Gilleran said. 


"Another really big benefit is the 
warm handoff for our youth before 
release to ensure they receive 
continued care," Kelley said. 


Gilleran added, "The benefits 
of CalAim is that now we'll be 
bringing in revenue tha:t allows us 
to put money into other programs 
that addresses pro-social, pro-


. health, cognitive, and behavioral 
issues and can potentially be put · 
into vocational training." 


. One of the vocational training 
programs offered to youth is music 
production, which requires a 
studio to learn how to mix and edit 
sound and music. "One example of 
putting money into other programs 
is building a music studio," 


Kelley said. 
San Diego County Probation 


is committed to delivering 
high-quality· services that drive 
improved outcomes for the youth 
and adults they serve. 











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
Subject: Media Advisory - District 4 Press Briefing 8/25/25
Date: Monday, August 25, 2025 9:43:00 AM
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MEDIA ADVISORY
 
 
Media Contact:
Ariel Gibbs | 619-548-4383 | Ariel.Gibbs@sdcounty.ca.gov
 

VICE CHAIR MONTGOMERY STEPPE TO ANNOUNCE UPDATES ON LAW
ENFORCEMENT OVERSIGHT AND JUVENILE JUSTICE REFORM

 
SAN DIEGO, CA — On Monday, August 25th, Vice Chair Monica Montgomery Steppe will hold a
press briefing to announce a series of proposed policy initiatives aimed at strengthening
transparency, accountability, and conditions within San Diego County’s law enforcement and
juvenile justice systems.
 
The announcement follows recent reports and ongoing investigations that have highlighted systemic
concerns within County detention facilities, including the excessive use of chemical agents on youth,
limited investigatory authority in cases of in-custody deaths, and an overall lack of meaningful
public oversight.
 
Vice Chair Montgomery Steppe will outline key reform proposals ahead of the Board of
Supervisors’ upcoming meeting, including:

Phasing out the use of all chemical agents, including OC (Oleoresin Capsicum) spray, in
youth detention centers
De-emphasizing the use of room/solitary confinement in youth facilities
Requiring trauma-informed de-escalation training for all probation officers working with
youth
Updates to expanding the investigatory authority of the Citizens’ Law Enforcement Review
Board (CLERB)

 
Read the full proposal to protect youth in custody here.
Read the proposal to expand CLERB investigatory powers here.
 
 
WHEN:           Monday, August 25, 2025
                        11:00 a.m.
 
WHAT:          Press Briefing –Juvenile Justice Reform Announcement and Law Enforcement
Oversight Updates
 
WHERE:        San Diego County Administration Center
                        Room 302, 1600 Pacific Highway, San Diego, CA 92101
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Parking: Structure on Ash St. between Pacific Hwy & Harbor Dr.
                       
WHO:             Vice Chair Monica Montgomery Steppe

County of San Diego, District 4
 
 
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
Subject: BOS A-74 Memo RE AB 847
Date: Monday, August 25, 2025 9:48:00 AM
Attachments: BOS A-74 Memo CLERB 8.22.25.pdf
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Please see the attached memo from the Office of Economic Development and
Government Affairs.
 
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
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August 22, 2025 


 
TO:  Supervisor Terra Lawson-Remer, Chair 
  Supervisor Monica Montgomery Steppe, Vice Chair 
  Supervisor Paloma Aguirre, Chair Pro Tem 
  Supervisor Joel Anderson 
  Supervisor Jim Desmond 
       
FROM:  Matthew Parr, Director 
  Office of Economic Development and Government Affairs 
 
RE:  COUNTY BOARD, COMMISSION, COMMITTEE REQUEST FOR ENGAGEMENT ON 


LEGISLATION 
 
Per Board Policy A-74, County Boards, Commissions, and Committees shall submit any requests for 
legislative positions to the Office of Economic Development and Government Affairs (EDGA), which then 
transmits the recommendation to the Board of Supervisors (Board). Consistent with that policy, please see 
the attached letter from the Citizen’s Law Enforcement Review Board (CLERB). 
 
On August 7, 2025, the CLERB Board approved an action to submit a request to the Board of Supervisors to 
support State Assembly Bill 847 (AB 847), authored by Assembly Member LaShae Sharp-Collins.  
 
The California Public Records Act authorizes the inspection and copying of any public record except where 
specifically prohibited by law. In addition, with specified exemptions, the law makes confidential the 
personnel records of peace officers and custodial officers and certain other records maintained by their 
employing agencies and provides that this exemption from disclosure does not apply to investigations of 
these officers or their employing agencies or to related proceedings conducted by a grand jury, a district 
attorney’s office, or the Attorney General’s office. 
 
AB 847 would grant civilian law enforcement oversight boards access to the confidential personnel records 
of peace officers and custodial officers during investigations or proceedings concerning the conduct of those 
officers. Specifically, AB 847 gives Civilian Oversight Boards, such as CLERB, and Inspectors General the 
same access to confidential reports as attorneys general, district attorneys, and grand juries without violating 
state law. 
 
AB 847 is supported by many organizations including the California Public Defenders Association and the 
National Association for Civilian Oversight of Law Enforcement and is largely opposed by law enforcement, 
including the San Diego Sheriff’s Office. The County’s Legislative Program does not provide clear policy 
direction to take a position on this bill. Without further action by your Board on this measure, EDGA will 
continue to track AB 847 bill through the legislative session. 
 
If you have any questions, please feel free to contact me at matthew.parr@sdcounty.ca.gov or by phone at 
(619) 372-2126. 
 
Respectfully, 


 


 
 
MATTHEW PARR 
Director 


COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO 
INTER–DEPARTMENTAL MEMORANDUM 
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August 18, 2025 
 
Matthew Parr 
Director – Office Economic Development and Government Affairs (EDGA) 
1600 Pacific Highway 
San Diego, CA 92101 
 
Dear Director Parr, 
 
Pursuant to Board Policy A-74, County Boards and Commissions shall submit any requests for legislative 
positions to EDGA, who then transmits the recommendation to the Board of Supervisors (BOS). On behalf of 
the Citizen’s Law Enforcement Review Board (CLERB), I am writing to request the BOS for support for 
Assembly Bill 84 (AB847). 
 
AB 847 amends Penal Code section 832.7(a) and gives Civilian Oversight Boards, such as CLERB, and 
Inspectors General the same access to confidential reports as attorneys general, district attorneys, and grand 
juries without violating state law.  To be clear, civilian oversight boards, such as ours, would be required to 
maintain confidentiality of such records and not make them public. 
  
San Diego County voters established CLERB in 1990 to independently and impartially investigate citizen 
complaints against San Diego County Sheriff's deputies and probation officers.  The County's Charter 
charges the Review Board with receiving, reviewing, and investigating complaints about the conduct of peace 
officers performing their duties while employed by the Sheriff's Department or the Probation 
Department. CLERB also has jurisdiction over specified incidents including in-custody deaths, officer-involved 
shootings, use of force resulting in great bodily injury and use of force and 1st Amendment protests. 
  
Pursuant to Rule 16.2 of CLERB’s Rules and Regulations states: “A finding of “Sustained” should include an 
explanation of the finding of improper conduct and may include recommendations relating to: (a) the 
imposition of discipline, including the facts relied on in making such recommendations; (b) any trends in 
regard to employees involved in Complaints.”  CLERB has rarely, if ever, recommended imposition of 
discipline due to the fact CLERB has never had access to confidential reports which would provide guidance 
on the processes and discipline imposed by the Sheriff or Probation Chief. 
 
CLERB’s mission is to “increase public confidence in and accountability of peace officers employed by the 
Sheriff’s Department or the Probation Department by conducting independent, thorough, timely, and impartial 
reviews…” Only with the same access to confidential information as other oversight bodies, will Sheriff 
Oversight Boards be able to provide the increased transparency into the policies and practices of sheriff 
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departments that the public was promised with their creation. This bill will help ensure that peace officers are 
held accountable for misconduct and are timely and appropriately investigated and, where warranted, 
disciplined. 
 
For these reasons, CLERB voted unanimously to submit a request to the BOS for support of AB847 on 
August 7, 2025. 
 
Respectfully submitted,  
 
 
 


 
MaryAnne Pintar, Chair 
Citizen’s Law Enforcement Review Board 





		FROM:  Matthew Parr, Director

		CLERB Board Letter RE AB847 (002).pdf

		EXECUTIVE OFFICER

		BRETT KALINA

		1600 PACIFIC HIGHWAY, SUITE 251, SAN DIEGO, CA  92101

		TELEPHONE: (619) 238-6776         FAX: (619) 894-8310

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
Subject: Media Update 8-26-25
Date: Tuesday, August 26, 2025 8:43:00 AM
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Montgomery Steppe rejects sheriff’s criticism of plans to strengthen jail oversight
https://www.sandiegouniontribune.com/2025/08/25/montgomery-steppe-rejects-
sheriffs-criticism-of-plans-to-strengthen-jail-oversight/

Monica Montgomery Steppe proposes law enforcement, juvenile detention reforms
Supervisor proposes law enforcement, juvenile detention reforms
 
San Diego county supervisor wants to end use of pepper spray in juvenile detention
centers
San Diego county supervisor wants to end use of pepper spray in juvenile detention
centers | cbs8.com
 
 
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

 



From: Kalina, Brett on behalf of FGG, CLERB
To: Kalina, Brett
Subject: Intercom Information from DIS
Date: Friday, August 29, 2025 9:05:21 AM
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CLERB,
 
I asked one of the county's supervisors of facility maintenance/projects for the below
information. Not all the intercom systems are the same, and vary in different aspects
including, but not limited to, age, functions/log capabilities, and manufacturer.
 

Each facility-specific system (manufacturer, provider, system name)
SDCJ, LCDRF, EMDRF,GBDF, RMDF - Black Creek Integration Systems (BCIS)
SBDF, VDF - Stetofon and programmed by a small company, SST 

Can the intercoms be turned off in individual cells
No.

Can the intercoms be silenced or placed on stand-by mode
The systems themselves are not designed to be silenced.

Does the cell intercom system have volume settings
Yes, the Deputy can control the volume of the of the person talking on the other
end.

Can the volume setting be muted
The systems themselves are not designed to be muted.

Is there an audible notification to sworn staff when an intercom speaker is
activated in a cell

Yes.
What are the decibels the audible notification is set to

It is adjustable and varies but does not go to no sound at all. We have no exact
information on decibels.

Are there any other notifications when a cell intercom is activated (light, screen
pop-up, chirp, vibration, etc)

For the SST panels, a cell intercom light comes on and an audible sound is made
when the button is pushed inside the cell. The light stays on until answered (by a
deputy) and then the light goes out. On BCIS, the initial visual and audible
notifications are the same. However, the light continues to blink and an audible
continues until answered.

Are any of the intercom systems outfitted with recording capabilities

mailto:/O=EXCHANGELABS/OU=EXCHANGE ADMINISTRATIVE GROUP (FYDIBOHF23SPDLT)/CN=RECIPIENTS/CN=E105D2CDB6E94FB68A795FFA35E9B308-585D7145-35
mailto:CLERB@sdcounty.ca.gov
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Our systems cannot record audio.
Do any of the intercom systems have activation log capabilities

        The newer BCIS systems at LCDRF, GBDF, RMDF are capable of recording times
and durations of buttons pushed by the cell and the user. The SST panels do not.

Who services the intercom systems (speakers, computer system, cell intercoms)
Sheriff facilities staff and a contracted BCIS employee.

How often are they serviced
As needed, daily work.

Does DGS keep service records provided to intercom systems at the facilities?
DGS's Tririga system has records of the reported issues with the intercoms. This
does not cover all services or calls for repairs.

 
Respectfully,
 
JJ
 
 
 
 

 

     

Joseph Jarjura
Lieutenant
Division Of Inspectional Services
Email: Joseph.Jarjura@sdsheriff.org
www.sdsheriff.net
SAN DIEGO COUNTY
SHERIFF’S DEPARTMENT

 
 
Best regards - Brett
 

https://twitter.com/SDSheriff?ref_src=twsrc%5Egoogle%7Ctwcamp%5Eserp%7Ctwgr%5Eauthor
https://www.instagram.com/sdsheriff/?hl=en
https://vimeo.com/sdsheriff
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCMwIXFh8iOYOWzrEWlIQwuQ
mailto:Joseph.Jarjura@sdsheriff.org
http://www.sdsheriff.net/
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